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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1.  Under Section 10(b), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), does a complaint plead sufficiently 

to state a claim the elements of (1) actionable material misrepresentations, 

where it alleges a company touted its environmental commitments and 

practices while it knew of adverse events but downplayed its risks to the 

public, and (2) scienter, where it alleges facts giving rise to a strong 

inference, cogent and at least as compelling as alternative inferences, that 

Petitioner acted recklessly in failing to disclose adverse reports about 

seismic activity and low wastewater storage capacity in its fracking area. 

2. Under Section 20(a), 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a), does a claim for control person 

liability require an allegation that the control person was a culpable 

participant in the primary violation when the plain language of the statute 

does not provide for one, it would render the good faith affirmative defense 

superfluous, it would effectively eliminate secondary liability, and 

disincentivize the use of preventative measures? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

 On August 10, 2018, Respondents Teacher Retirement System of 

Fordham (“TRSF”) and Fordham Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) filed a 

putative class action against Petitioners Red River Exploration Company (“Red 

River”) and James Wilson (“Wilson”) in the District of Fordham. R. at 8. The 

complaint alleged that Red River violated Section 10(b) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 (“the 1934 Act”) and Rule 10b-5, and that Wilson 

violated Section 20(a) as a control person. R. at 9. Petitioners filed a Rule 

12(b)(6) motion to dismiss the action for failure to state a claim, arguing TRSF 

and FMRF failed to adequately plead a Section 10(b) primary violation against 

Red River, and because of this, and the lack of pleading any facts in regard to 

Wilson’s culpable participation that there was also no claim under Section 

20(a). R. at 10. The District Court dismissed both claims. R. at 10.  

Respondents TRSF and FMRF timely appealed, arguing they had alleged 

a primary violation and were not required to plead a culpable participation 

element in order to state a claim under the control person statute. R. at 10–11. 

The Circuit Court reversed, finding TRSF and FMRF stated both a Section 10(b) 

claim because they adequately plead actionable material misstatements and 

scienter, and a Section 20(a) claim for control person liability because a 

culpable participation element is not required to be pleaded. R. at 26. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Red River and Wilson operated a large oil exploration business in West 

Texas. R. at 2. They used a “novel,” “highly controversial” hydraulic fracturing 
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(“fracking”) practice, which involved “pulverizing shale rock formations with 

millions of gallons of water, sand, and chemicals . . . to bring oil and gas to the 

surface.” R. at 3–4. In late 2017, Red River received several reports of seismic 

activity where it was actively fracking in the Eagle Ford Shale, as well as 

concerns of inadequate capacity in its toxic wastewater storage facilities. R. at 

5. The company determined the warnings “certainly did not warrant a 

suspension of fracking in order to investigate.” R. at 5. Nonetheless, Red River 

stated in its March 1, 2018 Form 10-K that it had “no higher priority than 

ensuring that [its] drilling activities” protecting the environment and 

“preventing or remediating any damage.” R. at 6. Red River then publicly stated 

that it frequently reviewed practices “to assure [its] commitment to 

environmental best practices and devote[d] [its] most talented personnel and a 

substantial budget to ensuring protection of the environment” and that their 

fracking “involve[d] no serious environmental issues not associated with 

conventional drilling.” R. at 6. After additional reports of seismic activity in 

early May, the company planned, but did not commence, an investigation into 

the possible link to their operation. R. at 7. Wilson encouraged investors and 

analysts, stating “I think we have the tightest environmental practices in the 

West Texas oil patch” and “[c]andidly, I honestly believe a major environmental 

event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our property. We just 

pay too much attention for that to happen.” R. at 7. That same month, Red 

River received, but did not disclose, more reports of seismic activity. R. at 7. Its 

June 1, 2018 Form 10-Q’s risk factors included that “operations could be 
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subject to disruption by natural disasters beyond [its] control” including 

“severe storms, fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks” but did 

not disclose reports of seismic activity possibly linked to fracking. R. at 7–8. 

TRSF and FMRF purchased Petitioner’s shares less than a week before 

mid-level seismic activity destroyed its “toxic wastewater storage site,” share 

prices plummeted, and a government investigation revealed Red River used 

excessive explosives in its fracking operation. R. at 8. In their complaint, TRSF 

and FMRF stated “that Red River made materially misleading statements by 

touting the extent of its commitment to environmental safety and their 

environmental protection measures, when in fact using excessive blasting in 

their fracking process, disregarding environmental risks, and adopting 

inadequate procedures to prevent an environmental disaster” and that Wilson 

had sufficient control to render him secondarily liable. R. at 9.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2), a pleading only needs to 

contain a ‘short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is 

entitled to relief.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 677–78. To survive a 12(b)(6) 

motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, “a complaint must contain 

sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is 

plausible on its face.’” Id. This Court reviews the Circuit Court’s decision de 

novo. Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 80, 94 (2007). 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 TRSF and FMRF pleaded material misrepresentations to state a claim 
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under Section 10(b) because they alleged, beyond corporate mismanagement or 

puffery, that Petitioners omitted material facts regarding adverse event reports, 

the disclosure of which would have, to a reasonable investor, significantly 

altered the total mix of information made available. TRSF and FMRF also 

pleaded scienter to state a claim under Section 10(b) because, given Petitioners’ 

knowledge of adverse reports, it is plausible, cogent, and at least as reasonable 

as alternative inferences, to infer that Petitioner at least recklessly disregarded 

the falsity of its statements touting its “exacting environmental standards,” 

practices, and “supposedly minimal risk of an environmental event.” 

TRSF and FMRF stated a claim for control person liability because 

Section 20(a), 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a), does not require an allegation that the control 

person was a culpable participant in the primary violation. The clearest reading 

of 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) supports the interpretation that there is no culpable 

participation element because it is absent from the language of the statute and 

would render the good faith affirmative defense superfluous. A culpable 

participation element would also effectively eliminate control person liability 

and disincentivize control persons from maintaining proper internal controls. 

Finally, the PSLRA pleading standards do not apply to control person liability. 

ARGUMENT 

The 1934 Act’s “fundamental purpose” was to create full disclosure of 

accurate information to investors. Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 234 

(1988). This Court noted that such disclosure would result in a higher 

standard of ethics and avoid securities fraud. Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. 
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U.S., 406 U.S. 128, 151 (1972). The remedial nature of the 1934 Act mandates 

a broad and flexible—rather than a technical and restrictive—construction of 

its provisions to ensure its purposes are fulfilled. Id. Consistent with the 

purpose of protecting investors and the broad construction of the 1934 Act, 

this Court should affirm the Circuit Court, which correctly held that (I) 

Respondents TRSF and FMRF’s claims sufficiently pleaded material 

misrepresentations and scienter to state a claim under Section 10(b) of the 

1934 Act, and (II) Respondents TRSF and FMRF were not required to allege 

Wilson’s culpable participation in the primary violation in order to state a 

Section 20(a) claim for control person liability.   

I. RESPONDENTS TRSF AND FMRF’S CLAIMS OF MATERIAL 
MISREPRESENTATIONS ARE NOT INACTIONABLE AS A MATTER OF 
LAW UNDER SECTION 10(b). 

The Circuit Court correctly ruled that Respondents TRSF and FMRF 

stated a claim under Section 10(b) because the complaint adequately alleged (1) 

materially misleading statements, and (2) scienter. R. at 12. Under Section 

10(b) of the 1934 Act, it is unlawful to “use or employ, in connection with the 

purchase or sale of any security . . . any manipulative device or contrivance in 

contravention of [the] rules and regulations” the Securities Exchange 

Commission (“SEC”) sets forth to protect investors. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). Rule 

10b-5, promulgated thereunder, prohibits “mak[ing] any untrue statement of 

material fact or omit[ting] to state a material fact necessary in order to make 

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. To state a claim under Section 
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10(b) and Rule 10b-5, the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (“PSLRA”) 

and Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) require that the complaint “state with 

particularity” the facts supporting the allegation of securities fraud. Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 9(b); 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1). In order to do so, a complaint must state 

facts supporting the elements of (1) a material misrepresentation or omission; 

(2) scienter; (3) a connection with the purchase or sale of a security; (4) 

reliance, also known as transaction causation; (5) economic loss; and (6) loss 

causation. Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 37–38 (2011).  

In this case, Petitioners do not challenge a connection with the purchase 

or sale of a security, reliance, economic loss, or loss causation. R. at 12. 

Therefore, only the first two elements—material misrepresentation or omissions 

and scienter—are at issue in this case. R. at 12. The Circuit Court correctly 

ruled that the complaint stated a claim under Section 10(b) because TRSF and 

FMRF adequately alleged (1) materially misleading statements, and (2) scienter.  

A.  Respondents TRSF and FMRF Pleaded Material Misrepresentations 
Sufficient To Survive A 12(b)(6) Motion To Dismiss Because The 
Alleged Disclosure Of Omitted Facts Would Have Significantly 
Altered The Total Mix Of Information Made Available And Alleged 
More Than Mere Corporate Mismanagement Or Puffery. 

TRSF and FMRF’s complaint stated with particularity facts supporting 

the allegation of a material misrepresentation because it alleged a substantial 

likelihood that disclosure of omitted facts would have been considered 

significant to a reasonable investor and were (1) more than mere corporate 

mismanagement and (2) more than mere puffery. A defendant is liable under 

Section 10(b) for misrepresentation “as to a material fact.” Basic, 485 U.S. at 
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238. Whether the complaint states a claim for a material misrepresentation 

begins with the language of Section 10(b) itself. Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 

430 U.S. 462, 472 (1977) (citing Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. 185, 197 (1976); Blue 

Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 756 (1975) (Powell, J., 

concurring)). The language of Section 10(b) creates a duty to speak “when 

necessary ‘to make ... statements made, in light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading.’” Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 44. “Once a 

company speaks on an issue or topic, there is a duty to tell the whole truth.” 

Meyer v. Jinkosolar Holdings Co., 761 F.3d 245 (2d Cir. 2014). 

For purposes of a Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 analysis, “an omitted fact 

is material” and disclosure is necessary “if there is a substantial likelihood that 

its disclosure would have been considered significant”—that is, that it would 

have “significantly altered the total mix of information made available”—

according to a reasonable investor. Basic, 485 U.S. at 323 (citing TSC Indus., 

Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976)) (internal quotation marks 

omitted). The “total mix” of information refers to information known to the 

public. See In re Apple Computer Sec. Litig., 886 F.2d 1109, 1116 (9th Cir. 

1989). The “reasonable investor” standard encompasses the wide range of 

reasonable investors’ risk tolerance from the conservative to the speculator. 

SEC v. Tex. Gulf Sulphur Co., 401 F.2d 833, 849 (2d Cir. 1968).  

Courts evaluating the materiality of a misrepresentation or omission to a 

“reasonable investor” must look to the statement’s context. In re Donald Trump, 

7 F.3d at 364. Thus, materiality is “an inherently fact-specific finding” 



  R4 

 - 8 - 

requiring “delicate assessments of the inferences a ‘reasonable shareholder’ 

would draw from a given set of facts and the significance of those inferences to 

him.” Basic, 485 U.S. at 236. The timing, accuracy, and completeness of a 

defendant’s disclosures are all relevant to the contextual analysis. Id. at 235.  

For example, this Court has held that a factual, context-specific 

inquiry—rather than a bright-line rule—is necessary to determine the 

materiality of allegations that a company failed to disclose reports of adverse 

events. Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 38–39. The Matrixx complaint alleged that 

pharmaceutical company Matrixx made unfounded, misleading statements 

about adverse event reports related to its product, Zicam Cold Remedy. 563 

U.S. at 34. Specifically, the complaint alleged that a research director reported 

a possible link between the product and patients’ loss of smell, and then, in a 

doctor complained that her patient lost sense of smell after using the product 

and cited “previous studies linking [the product] to loss of smell,” but the vice 

president “gave her the impression that he had not heard of the [previous] 

studies.” Id. at 32 (internal quotations omitted). Then, a professional 

presentation detailed the loss of smell that ten users experienced (but did not 

refer specifically to the brand after the vice president notified presenters they 

did not have permission to name the brand or product). Id. at 32–33. 

Despite this knowledge of adverse events, including the presentation, the 

company persisted in its nondisclosure. Id. It stated publicly that the product 

was “poised for growth in the upcoming cough and cold season,” had “very 

strong momentum,” and expected significant revenue growth. Id. at 33. Its next 
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Form 10-Q warned that “potential material adverse effect . . . could result from 

product liability claims.” Id. at 34. But the company did not disclose that it had 

already been sued for loss of smell by two plaintiffs. Id. Then, after the 

announcement of a Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) investigation and a 

drop in share prices, Matrixx stated in a press release that it complied with 

FDA guidelines, its “primary concern” was customer health and safety and 

distribution of information, and it “believe[d]” that allegations of loss of smell 

were “completely unfounded and misleading.” Id. The next Form 8-Q stated 

that “[i]n the opinion of” Matrixx’s panel, there was “insufficient scientific 

evidence at the time” to link the adverse events to the product. Id. at 35. 

Matrixx later stated it “would begin conducting” studies on the allegations. Id.  

These statements were allegedly materially “misleading in light of the 

reports that Matrixx had received, but did not disclose, about consumers who 

had lost their sense of smell . . . after using” the product. Id. at 31. The 

misrepresentations were material despite any lack of a “statistically significant 

correlation.” Id. at 36–37. Finding the complaint sufficiently alleged material 

misrepresentations, this Court noted the company “had not conducted any 

research of its own,” so it could “reasonably be inferred that [the company] had 

no basis for rejecting” the adverse reports. Id. at 46. 

On the other hand, allegations of mere corporate mismanagement or 

fiduciary breach do not constitute material misrepresentations to state a claim 

under Section 10(b). See Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 477. Whether the allegations 

state a Section 10(b) claim beyond mere corporate mismanagement depends on 
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whether the crux of the case is an “injury as a result of deceptive practices” 

rather than an injury from mere “internal corporate mismanagement” alone. 

Superintendent of Ins. v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 12–13 (1971). A 

complaint only alleges corporate mismanagement where “the essence of the 

complaint is that shareholders were treated unfairly by a fiduciary.” Santa Fe, 

430 U.S. at 477. For example, in Santa Fe, this Court found the complaint 

alleged corporate mismanagement without “manipulative or deceptive” conduct 

where minority shareholders alleged only that majority shareholders breached 

their duty to the minority by effecting an unfair merger at an undervalued 

price, they did not allege “any omission or misstatement in the information 

statement accompanying the notice of merger,” and the information “was fairly 

presented.” Id. at 470, 474. Because “full and fair disclosure ha[d] occurred,” 

the “fundamental purpose” of the statute was fulfilled. Id. at 477–78. 

Likewise, allegations of mere puffery or corporate optimism do not 

constitute material misrepresentations. See Rombach v. Chang, 355 F.3d 164, 

174 (2d Cir. 2004); IBEW Local Union No. 58 Pension Tr. Fund and Annuity 

Fund v. Royal Bank of Scot. Grp., PLC, 783 F.3d 383, 392 (2d Cir. 2015). 

“Statements of general corporate optimism” only rise to the level of a Section 

10(b) claim where (1) “they are worded as guarantees,” (2) “they are supported 

by specific statements of fact,” or (3) “if the speaker does not genuinely or 

reasonably believe them.” IBEW Local Union No. 58 Pension Tr. Fund and 

Annuity Fund, 783 F.3d at 392. The puffery doctrine recognizes that companies 

are, “[u]p to a point[,] . . . permitted to operate with a hopeful outlook” without 
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liability for a material misrepresentation. Rombach, 355 F.3d at 174.  

Aspirational statements of inactionable puffery are too general to be 

reasonably relied upon where they are “loosely optimistic” and “so vague, so 

lacking in specificity, or so clearly constituting the opinions of the speaker” fail 

to satisfy the materiality requirement because “no reasonable investor could 

find them important to the total mix of information available.” In re Ford Motor 

Co. Sec. Litig. Class Action, 281 F.3d 563, 570–71 (6th Cir. 2004) (citing 

Nathenson v. Zonagen, Inc., 267 F.3d 400, 404, 419 (5th Cir. 2001)); Lasker v. 

N.Y. State Elec. & Gas Corp., 85 F.3d 55, 58 (2d Cir. 1996)) (internal quotation 

marks omitted). Therefore, a company can avoid liability for inactionable 

puffery where its statements are “explicitly aspirational, with qualifiers such as 

‘aims to,’ ‘wants to,’ and ‘should’” making the statements “‘too general to cause 

a reasonable investor to rely upon them.’” City of Pontiac Policemen’s and 

Firemen’s Ret. Sys. v. UBS AG, 752 F.3d 173, 183 (2d Cir. 2014). For example, 

in City of Pontiac, plaintiffs failed to allege material misrepresentation based on 

the company’s statements that it “prioritized adequate diversification of risk 

and avoidance of undue concentrations” of assets while the company was 

accumulating a substantial portfolio in residential backed mortgage securities 

(“RBMSs”). Id. at 186. These statements were “too open-ended and subjective to 

constitute a guarantee” about diversification where the complaint did not allege 

misrepresentation of “specific risk limits” regarding those investments. Id. 

In the present case, TRSF and FMRF stated a claim under Section 10(b) 

sufficient to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss because they alleged that 
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Petitioners omitted material facts regarding adverse event reports, the 

disclosure of which would have, to a reasonable investor, “significantly altered 

the total mix of information made available.” See Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 38; R. at 

5–8. Like the reports of loss of smell in Matrixx, in late 2017 Petitioner received 

several reports of seismic activity where it was actively fracking. R. at 5. 

Nonetheless, like Matrixx’s statement that its “primary concern” was customer 

health and safety and distribution of information, Petitioner stated in its March 

1, 2018 Form 10-K that it had “no higher priority than ensuring that [its] 

drilling activities” protecting the environment and “preventing or remediating 

any damage.” See Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 34; R. at 6. Petitioner’s statements that 

it frequently reviewed “to assure [its] commitment to environmental best 

practices and devote[d] [its] most talented personnel and a substantial budget 

to ensuring protection of the environment,” were misleading in light of the fact 

that it was disregarding warnings of seismic activity because they “certainly did 

not warrant a suspension of fracking in order to investigate.” See Matrixx, 563 

U.S. at 31; R. at 5–6. Because Petitioner, like Matrixx, “had not conducted any 

research of its own,” it can “reasonably be inferred that [the company] had no 

basis for rejecting” the adverse reports. See Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 46; R. at 5. It’s 

statement in the March 2018 Form 10-K that fracking “involves no serious 

environmental issues not associated with conventional drilling” was, therefore, 

an “unfounded, misleading statement.” See Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 34; R. at 6.  

When Petitioner received additional reports of increased seismic activity 

in the same fracking area in early May 2018, it again decided not to disclose 
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the adverse events, but made plans to investigate in July. R. at 7. Despite its 

decision that reports of increased seismic activity warranted investigation, 

Petitioner’s CEO stated to investors on May 15, 2018 that he “honestly 

believe[d] a major environmental event ha[d] about zero percent chance of 

occurring on [Petitioner’s] property.” Id. Petitioner received even more reports of 

frequent seismic activity in the fracking area in late May, but again chose not 

to disclose the adverse events. Id.  Stating in its June 1, 2018 Form 10-Q that 

a risk factor included the possibility that “operations could be subject to 

disruption by natural disasters,” Petitioner again touched on the subject of 

environmental risks without disclosing the adverse event reports. R. at 7–8. 

TRSF and FMRF purchased Petitioner’s shares less than a week before 

mid-level seismic activity destroyed Petitioner’s “toxic wastewater storage site” 

and the price plummeted. R. at 8. No finding of “statistically significant 

correlation” is required for the company to have violated its duty of disclosure. 

See Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 36–37. The omitted facts about seismic activity and 

wastewater storage concerns are material to a reasonable investor because 

there is a “substantial likelihood that disclosure would have been considered 

significant” and would have “significantly altered the total mix of information 

available.”  See Basic, 485 U.S. at 323; R. at 5–8. 

Furthermore, in this case, TRSF and FMRF stated a Section 10(b) claim 

for material misrepresentation because they alleged deception, 

misrepresentation, or nondisclosure beyond mere corporate mismanagement or 

a fiduciary breach. See Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 475–76; R. at 14. However, unlike 
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the investors in Santa Fe who alleged they were treated unfairly in the 

substance of a merger transaction without alleging “any omission or 

misstatement in the information,” the complaint in this case goes beyond mere 

allegations that TRSF and FMRF were “treated unfairly” or that Petitioners 

simply “mishandled” the information of the adverse reports. See 430 U.S. at 

474; R. at 21. TRSF and FMRF alleged, beyond simple unfair treatment or 

mishandling of information, that Petitioners failed to disclose adverse events as 

necessary in order to make its statements that (1) its “highest priority was 

‘ensuring that [its] drilling activity continue[d] to be conducted in a manner 

consistent with protecting the environment and preventing or remediating 

damage resulting from an environmental occurrent,” (2) that it “frequently 

reviewed its environmental practices to ‘ensure protection of the environment,’” 

and (3) “that [it] used ‘the latest technology’ to ‘minimize surface water or soil 

contamination’” not misleading. See Santa Fe, 430 U.S. at 474; R. at 14.   

As this Court noted in Santa Fe, allegations of corporate mismanagement 

or fiduciary breach, which would alone be insufficient, state a Section 10(b) 

claim where they include allegations of deception, misrepresentation, or 

nondisclosure.  430 U.S. at 475–76. To state a claim for material 

misrepresentation under Section 10(b), the complaint must simply allege 

“manipulative or deceptive” conduct as the statutory language requires. Ernst 

& Ernst, 425 U.S. at 197. Whether the allegations state a Section 10(b) claim 

depends on whether the crux of the case is an “injury as a result of deceptive 

practices” rather than an injury from mere “internal corporate 
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mismanagement” alone. Superintendent, 404 U.S. at 12–13. The “crux of the 

case” standard is satisfied where plaintiffs allege that they were deceived by a 

misrepresentation, rather than merely criticizing management decisions made 

after stock was purchased. See id.; Suez Equity Inv’rs, L.P. v. Toronto-Dominion 

Bank, 250 F.3d 87, 99 (2d Cir. 2001); Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, 

551 U.S. 308, 320 (2007) (rejecting “fraud by hindsight”). 

Moreover, TRSF and FMRF adequately alleged material 

misrepresentations beyond mere puffery to state a Section 10(b) claim for 

material misrepresentation because they alleged specific statements that were 

not so aspirational and general that no reasonable investor could rely upon 

them. See City of Pontiac, 752 F.3d at 183; R. at 17. Instead, TRSF and FMRF 

alleged that Petitioners’ statements were “supported by specific statements of 

fact” and that Petitioners could not “genuinely or reasonably believe them.” See 

IBEW, 783 F.3d at 392; R. at 17. Petitioners materially misrepresented their 

“highest priority” of preventing environmental damage and “investment in the 

lasted technology” differentiating it from competitors and minimizing water 

contamination because they made those specific statements despite their 

knowledge that they were disregarding numerous adverse environmental event 

reports associated with their operations. See 752 F.3d at 186; R. at 17.  This is 

a critical distinction from the company in City of Pontiac, which did not 

misrepresent that it “prioritized adequate diversification” because it did not 

misrepresent any “specific risk limits.” Id. 

Furthermore, unlike the “open-ended and subjective” statements in City 
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of Pontiac, Petitioners made specific statements, including that their fracking 

operation “involve[d] no serious environmental issues not associated with 

conventional drilling” and that, rather than being subject to general 

environmental risks, its “operations could be subject to disruption by natural 

disasters beyond [its] control, including . . . severe storms, fires, earthquakes, 

civil unrest, and terrorist attacks,” all while notably failing to disclose adverse 

reports of environmental issues in the fracking area and the potential link 

between the operation and seismic activity. See 752 F.3d at 186; IBEW, 783 

F.3d at 392; R. at 17–18. Petitioners’ statement that “a major environmental 

event ha[d] about a zero percent chance of occurring on [its] property [because 

they] just pay too much attention for that to happen” was not “loosely 

optimistic” and “so vague, so lacking in specificity” that no reasonable investor 

could find it important. See In re Ford Motor Co., 281 F.3d at 570–71; City of 

Pontiac, 752 F.3d at 183; R. at 18. Thus, TRSF and FMRF stated a claim under 

Section 10(b) because they alleged, beyond mere corporate mismanagement or 

puffery, that Petitioners omitted material adverse event reports, the disclosure 

of which would have, to a reasonable investor, “significantly altered the total 

mix of information made available.” See Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 38; R. at 5–8. 

B.  Respondents TRSF and FMRF Pleaded Scienter Sufficient To Survive 
A 12(b)(6) Motion To Dismiss Because The Complaint Alleged Facts 
Evidencing Conscious Misbehavior or Recklessness. 

The Circuit Court correctly ruled that TRSF and FMRF stated a claim 

under Section 10(b) because they adequately alleged facts supporting scienter. 

R. at 22. Scienter refers to a “defendant’s intention ‘to deceive, manipulate, or 
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defraud.’” Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 313 (quoting Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. at 194). To 

satisfy the scienter element of a Section 10(b) claim, the complaint must “state 

with particularity the facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant 

acted with the required state of mind.” Id. at 314 (citing 15 U.S.C. § 78u-

4(b)(2)). The facts alleged give rise to a “strong inference” of scienter where that 

inference is “cogent and at least as compelling as any opposing inference” 

which may be “rationally drawn from the facts alleged.” Id. However, the strong 

inference of scienter does not have to be irrefutable “or even the ‘most plausible 

of competing inferences.’” Id. at 324. It need only be strong enough that, taking 

the allegations collectively and as true, a reasonable person would find the 

inference to be at least as compelling as alternative inferences. Id. at 326. 

When comparing the inferences which may be drawn, courts must keep in 

mind the importance of “preserving investors’ ability to recover on meritorious 

claims” under the pleading standard. Id. at 322. 

Although it has not explicitly adopted this standard, this Court has 

embraced deliberate recklessness as sufficient to satisfy the strong inference of 

scienter required to state a claim under Section 10(b) and noted that every 

circuit to decide the question has held the same. See Matrixx, 563 U.S. at 48 

(holding the complaint that raised an inference of recklessness adequately 

pleaded scienter); Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 319 n.3. For example, in Matrixx, this 

Court considered the allegations that after receiving adverse reports that its 

drug caused loss of smell, the company did not disregard them, but instead 

planned an investigation into the reports and prevented the product name from 
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being used in a presentation on the issue. See id. at 49. Particularly relevant, 

the company’s press release expressed that its product did not cause the harm 

reported, “when, in fact, [the company] had not conducted any studies” on the 

issue and the company lacked conclusively exculpatory evidence at the time. 

See id. at 49–50. Taking these facts collectively, this Court held that the 

allegations gave rise to a sufficiently strong inference that the company acted 

recklessly or intentionally in not disclosing adverse reports that its drug caused 

loss of smell “not because it believed they were meaningless but because it 

understood their likely effect on the market.” See id. at 49–50. 

 On the other hand, a complaint does not give rise to a strong inference of 

scienter where conclusory allegations lack particular facts supporting that the 

company “knew but concealed” or was “reckless in not knowing” material facts. 

See Shields v. Citytrust Bancorp, Inc., 25 F.3d 1124, 1129 (2d Cir. 1994).  For 

example, in Shields, the complaint did not give rise to an inference of 

knowledge or recklessness because it did not allege “that the company’s 

disclosures were inconsistent with current data,” but instead simply that the 

company acted under “misguided optimism.” Id. 

 In the present case, TRSF and FMRF stated a claim under Section 10(b) 

because they alleged with particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference, 

cogent and at least as compelling as alternative inferences, that Petitioner 

acted with recklessness in failing to disclose adverse reports about seismic 

activity and low wastewater storage capacity in its fracking area. See Tellabs, 

551 U.S. at 313; R. at 21. Like the allegations in Matrixx that the company did 
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not disregard adverse reports, but instead planned an investigation into them, 

Respondents’ complaint alleged that, during the relevant period, Petitioner 

planned an investigation by a “prominent university geologist” into the 

concerns “[a]fter considerable thought.” See 563 U.S. at 49; R. at 7. 

Additionally, like the press release in Matrixx which expressed an absence of 

harm “when, in fact, [the company] had not conducted any studies” and lacked 

evidentiary support for its statements, Petitioner made the challenged 

statements while it knew of the adverse reports, had not yet conducted its 

investigation, and “had access to information that tended to undermine the 

accuracy of its statements.” See 563 U.S. at 49–50; R. at 21.  

Furthermore, the complaint in this case alleged particular facts 

supporting an inference that Petitioners “knew but concealed” or were “reckless 

in not knowing” the risk associated with the adverse event reports. See Shields, 

25 F.3d at 1129; R. at 21. Unlike in Shields where the complaint did not plead 

scienter because it alleged the company acted under “misguided optimism,” but 

not that “the company’s disclosures were inconsistent with current data,” the 

complaint in this case clearly alleges that Petitioners’ disclosures omitted the 

adverse reports, despite the fact that Petitioners had not conducted any 

investigation to determine the validity of those reports. See id.   

Given Petitioners’ knowledge of the adverse reports, it is plausible, 

cogent, and at least as reasonable as alternative inferences, to infer that 

Petitioners at least recklessly disregarded the falsity of its statements touting 

its “exacting environmental standards,” practices, and “supposedly minimal 
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risk of an environmental event.” See Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 314; Matrixx, 563 U.S. 

at 50; R. at 21. This Court should follow its reasoning in Matrixx to find that, 

taking these facts collectively as true, Respondents’ allegations gave rise to a 

sufficiently strong inference that Petitioner acted recklessly or intentionally in 

not disclosing adverse reports “not because it believed they were meaningless 

but because it understood their likely effect on the market.” See id. Thus, 

because Respondents adequately alleged both (1) materially misleading 

statements and (2) scienter, this Court should affirm the Circuit Court and 

hold that the complaint stated a claim under Section 10(b). 

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT RESPONDENTS 
STATED A CLAIM UNDER THE CONTROL PERSON STATUTE 
BECAUSE AN ALLEGATION THAT THE CONTROL PERSON WAS A 
CULPABLE PARTICIPANT IS NOT REQUIRED.  

 
The Circuit Court correctly ruled that TRSF and FMRF stated a claim for 

control person liability under 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) because an allegation that the 

control person was a culpable participant in the primary violation is not 

required. Congress established two control person statutes, Section 15 of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1933 (“the 1933 Act”) and Section 20(a) of the 1934 

Act, to allow victims of securities fraud to bring a claim for secondary liability 

against those that had direct or indirect control over the primary violation. 15 

U.S.C. §§ 77o, 78t(a). To effectuate the purpose of protecting investors, 

Congress passed the control person statutes to “prevent people and entities 

from using straw parties, subsidiaries, or other agents acting on their behalf to 

accomplish ends that would be forbidden directly by the securities laws.” 

Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d 867, 873 (8th Cir. 2010) (quoting Laperriere v. 
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Vesta Ins. Group, Inc., 526 F.3d 715, 721 (11th Cir. 2008)). In the present case, 

TRSF and FMRF asserted a control person liability claim against Wilson under 

Section 20(a), 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). R. at 9.  

Section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 provides:  

Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable 
under any provision of this chapter or of any rule or regulation 
thereunder shall also be liable jointly and severally with and to the 
same extent as such controlled person to any person to whom 
such controlled person is liable . . . unless the controlling person 
acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act 
or acts constituting the violation or cause of action.  
 

15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). To establish a prima facie case of control person liability, a 

plaintiff must show (1) a primary violation of federal securities law, and (2) 

control over the “general operations of the primary violator.” Lustgraaf v. 

Behrens, 619 F.3d at 873. While the above elements are undisputed, courts are 

split on whether a plaintiff must also prove that the control person was a 

culpable participant in the primary violation. See, e.g., Carpenters Pension Tr. 

Fund of St. Louis v. Barclays PLC, 750 F.3d 227, 236 (2d Cir. 2014); Metge v. 

Baehler, 762 F.2d 621, 631 (8th Cir. 1985). The Fifth, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth, 

Tenth, and Eleventh Circuits reject a culpable participation element as part of 

plaintiff’s prima facie burden. See Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d at 873–74; 

Maher v. Durango Metals, Inc., 144 F.3d 1302, 1305 (10th Cir. 1998); Brown v. 

Enstar Group, Inc., 84 F.3d 393, 396 (11th Cir. 1996); Abbott v. Equity Grp., 

Inc., 2 F.3d 613, 619–20 (5th Cir. 1993); Harrison v. Dean Witter Reynolds Inc., 

974 F.2d 873, 880 (7th Cir. 1992); Hollinger v. Tital Capital Corp., 914 F.2d 

1564, 1575 (9th Cir. 1990). On the other hand, only the Second and Third 
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Circuits require a culpable participation element. See Carpenters Pension Tr. 

Fund of St. Louis, 750 F.3d at 236; Belmont v. MB Inv. Partners, Inc., 708 F.3d 

470, 484 (3d Cir. 2013). This minority theory incorrectly requires plaintiffs to 

prove that the control person was “in some meaningful sense [a] culpable 

participant[] in the fraud perpetrated by controlled persons.” Lanza v. Drexel & 

Co., 479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d. Cir. 1973).  

 This is a matter of first impression for this Court. This Court should 

follow the approach taken in the majority of circuits in rejecting a culpable 

participation element because (1) the majority view is the clearest reading of 

the control person statute and does not render the good faith affirmative 

defense superfluous, (2) a culpable participation element would effectively 

eliminate secondary liability in terms of securities law, (3) adopting the 

minority view would frustrate the purpose of protecting investors by 

disincentivizing control persons from taking preventative measures, and (4) the 

heightened pleading standard under the PSLRA is not applicable.  

A. There Is No Culpable Participation Element Because The Plain 
Meaning Of The Statute Does Not Provide For One And It Would 
Render The Good Faith Affirmative Defense Superfluous. 

 
A claim for control person liability does not require a culpable 

participation element because the clearest reading of Section 20(a) does not 

provide for one and it would effectively make the good faith affirmative defense 

meaningless. Section 20(a) explicitly states only two requirements of the statute 

through its language “[e]very person who, directly or indirectly, controls any 

person liable [under the 1934 Act will] be liable jointly and severally with and 
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to the same extent as such controlled person.” 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). Noticeably 

absent from the statutory language is any mention of culpable participation in 

the primary violation. See Metge, 762 F.2d at 631; G.A. Thompson v. Partridge, 

636 F.2d 945, 957–58 (5th Cir. 1981). This Court has stated on multiple 

occasions that a court will “‘assum[e] that the ordinary meaning of [the 

statutory] language accurately expresses the legislative purpose.’” Marx v. 

General Revenue Corp., 568 U.S. 371, 376 (2013) (quoting Hardt v. Reliance 

Standard Life Ins. Co., 560 U.S. 242, 251 (2009)). Despite the plain meaning of 

the statute, the Second Circuit added a culpable participation element even 

though no statutory text supports this position. See Lanza, 479 F.2d at 1299. 

The Third Circuit wrongly adopted the Second Circuit’s interpretation. Rochez 

Bros., Inc. v. Rhodes, 527 F.2d 880, 885 (3d Cir. 1975). However, the majority 

of circuits have recognized that the proper interpretation of Section 20(a)’s 

plain language does not include a culpable participation element. See Lustgraaf 

v. Behrens, 619 F.3d at 873–74; Maher, 144 F.3d at 1305; Abbott v. Equity Grp, 

2 F.3d at 619–20; Harrison, 974 F.2d at 880; Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1575. 

If this Court were to interpret the control person liability statute as 

requiring a plaintiff to prove the defendant’s culpable participation, the good 

faith affirmative defense would be rendered superfluous. See In re Parmalat 

Sec. Litig., 375 F. Supp. 2d 278, 308 n.200 (S.D.N.Y. 2005). The control person 

statute allows a defendant to escape liability if he or she “acted in good faith 

and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the 

violation.” 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a). Because a control person can avoid liability by 
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proving she acted in good faith, “[t]he mere fact that a controlling person 

relationship exists does not mean that vicarious liability necessarily follows.” 

Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1575. Thus, “Congress was able to avoid what it deemed 

to be an undesirable result, namely that of insurer’s liability.” Id. 

This Court has stated time and time again that a “statute should be 

construed so that effect is given to all its provisions, so that no part will be 

inoperative or superfluous, void or insignificant.” Rubin v. Islamic Republic of 

Iran, 138 S. Ct. 816, 824 (2018) (quoting Corley v. United States, 556 U.S. 303, 

314 (2009)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Under the plain language of the 

statute, the plaintiff has the original burden to show that the defendant is a 

controlling person, and once that is proven, the burden shifts to the defendant 

to prove his good faith. Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1575. If a culpable participation 

element were required, a defendant would essentially be arguing their good 

faith after the plaintiff has proven the control person’s culpable participation in 

the primary violation. See Metge, 762 F.2d at 631. This “confuses the parties’ 

responsibilities and unnecessarily burdens plaintiffs contrary to the plain 

meaning of the statute.” Id. The plaintiff would have already proven defendants 

“lack of good faith” essentially rendering the affirmative defense “meaningless” 

and superfluous. See In re Parmalat Securities Litigation, 375 F. Supp. 2d at 

309. This directly conflicts with this Court’s canon of statutory interpretation 

to give meaning to all of a statute’s provisions. See Rubin, 138 S. Ct. at 824.  

B. A Culpable Participation Element Would Effectively Eliminate 
Secondary Liability And Therefore Control Person Liability Should 
be Based Solely on Control Like Other Vicarious Liability Doctrines. 
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A plaintiff is not required to prove a control person’s culpable 

participation in the primary violation because that would effectively combine 

the primary and secondary liability analysis and effectively eliminate the 

control person statutes. The few circuit courts adhering to the minority theory 

requiring a culpable participation element have not agreed on a definitive 

definition of culpable participation. See Plumbers & Pipefitters Local Union No. 

630 Pension-Annuity Tr. Fund v. Arbitron, Inc., 741 F. Supp. 2d 474, 491–92 

(S.D.N.Y. 2010). However, courts have generally agreed culpable participation 

requires “at a minimum . . . something more than negligence.” Id. The Third 

Circuit has gone as far to say that intent and knowledge are necessary to prove 

culpable participation in the primary violation. See Belmont, 708 F.3d at 485.  

The Eleventh Circuit was quick to recognize that if culpable participation 

is required, “the provision would hardly make anyone liable who would not be 

so otherwise” under primary liability. Laperriere, 526 F.3d 715 at 724 (quoting 

G.A. Thompson & Co., Inc., 636 F.2d at 960). The main differences between 

primary liability under the 1934 Act and secondary liability under Section 20(a) 

is the degree of participation and the burden of proof. Neil Bregenzer, 

Controlling Person Liability Under The Federal Securities Laws In The Ninth 

Circuit: Toward A Reconsideration Of The Culpable Participation Doctrine, 69 Or. 

L. Rev. 337, 361 (1990). However, if this Court were to require a culpable 

participation element, it would effectively eliminate the difference between 

primary and secondary liability in the securities context. See id. This is 

because a culpable participation element would increase the level of 
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participation required and it would switch the burden of proving the lack of 

good faith from the defendant to the plaintiff. See Metge, 762 F.2d at 631. 

Therefore, this Court should not require a culpable participation element 

and base control person liability on control like the doctrine of respondeat 

superior to maintain the distinction between primary and secondary liability. 

See Brian A. Melhus, Control Person Liability: A Repudiation of Culpable 

Participation, 37 J. Corp. L. 929, 947 (2012). The doctrine of respondeat 

superior “enables the imposition of liability on a principal for the tortious acts 

of his agent and, in the more common case, on the master for the wrongful acts 

of his servant.” General Bldg. Contractors Ass’n, Inc. v. Pennsylvania, 458 U.S. 

375, 392 (1982). A master-servant relationship is defined by “the master 

employ[ing] the servant as ‘an agent to perform service in his affairs’ and 

‘controls or has the right to control the physical conduct of the other in the 

performance of the service.’” Id. (quoting Restatement (Second) of Agency § 2 

(1958)). Importantly, “[a] master or other principal who unintentionally 

authorizes conduct of a servant or other agent which constitutes a tort to a 

third person is subject to liability to such person.” Restatement (Second) of 

Agency § 215. Therefore, unlike the culpable participation element, no showing 

of “something more than negligence” is required. See Plumbers & Pipefitters 

Local Union No. 630 Pension-Annuity Tr. Fund, 741 F. Supp. 2d at 491–92. 

Furthermore, legislative history reflects intent to not only base Section 

20(a) on control, but to create a more encompassing vicarious liability statute 

than the respondeat superior doctrine. See Laperriere, 526 F.3d at 722. Section 
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20(a) was promulgated to ensure secondary liability would be imposed on those 

in the “corporate hierarchy” who had previously been able to escape liability. 

Id. Thus, in implementing the control person liability statute, “Congress 

intended [S]ection 20(a) to expand upon the common law of vicarious liability 

and crafted a statute that encompassed relationships broader than those 

associated with master and servant, or principal and agent.” Id. This strongly 

supports Congress’s intent to expand vicarious liability into the securities 

realm rather than provide a weaker form of secondary liability. See id.  

C. A Culpable Participation Element Would Undermine Section 20(a)’s 
Purpose And Would Disincentivize Control Persons From Taking 
Measures to Prevent Securities Violations. 

 
Requiring plaintiffs to prove that the control person was a culpable 

participant in the primary violation would frustrate Section 20(a)’s purpose of 

protecting investors by disincentivizing control persons from creating internal 

mechanisms to prevent securities violations. Following the Great Depression, 

Congress promulgated the 1934 Act in an effort to reassure the public by 

regulating the stock exchanges. H.R. Rep. No. 73-1383, at 3 (1934). 

Specifically, Congress enacted Section 20(a) “in an attempt to protect the 

investing public from representatives who were inadequately supervised or 

controlled.” Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1573. To best effectuate the underlying 

purpose of protecting investors, congress did not define the term “control” in 

order to provide courts with the flexibility of deciding on a case-by-case basis. 

Lutsgraaf, 619 F.3d at 873. This flexibility allows courts to look at the specific 
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facts of the primary violation and determine whether the control person was 

facilitating the primary violator to commit securities fraud. Id.   

Unfortunately, this purpose is frustrated by a culpable participation 

element because it disincentivizes control persons from being actively involved 

in his or her corporation in order to escape liability. See Melhus, supra, at 949.  

By its very nature, a culpable participation element allows a control person to 

“turn a blind eye” towards security violations and would effectively eliminate 

responsible control over one’s employees. See id. For example, in the present 

case, a culpable participation element would encourage Wilson to take a 

“hands off” approach in dealing with the environmental concerns of Red River 

and in communicating with private investors. See R. at 5–6. However, the 

majority view that does not require a culpable participation element would 

incentivize Wilson to make sure that Red River was up to code on all 

environmental safety precautions and to disclose the truth of those 

environmental concerns to the private investors. See R. at 6–7. 

D. A Claim For Control Person Liability Does Not Require An Allegation 
That The Control Person Was A Culpable Participant Because The 
Heightened Pleading Standard Under The PSLRA Does Not Apply. 

 
A Section 20(a) claim does not require an allegation that the 

control person was a culpable participant because the heightened 

pleading standard under the PSLRA does not apply to control person 

liability. Proponents of the minority view wrongly require plaintiffs to 

prove a control person’s culpable participation in the primary violation as 

an attempt to disregard the legislative history of the control person 
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statute. See Lapin v. Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc., 506 F. Supp. 2d 221, 247 

(S.D.N.Y. 2006). Those in favor of the element argue that the PSLRA’s 

heightened pleading standard should apply to control person liability because a 

plaintiff “must ultimately establish the defendant’s state of mind” in order to 

prevail. Mishkin v. Ageloff, No. 97 Civ. 2690 LAP, 1998 WL 651065, at *23 

(S.D.N.Y. Sept. 23, 1998). However, this is untrue, as a plaintiff may never 

have to prove state of mind if the defendant does not allege the good faith 

affirmative defense, or does not meet its burden under the defense. See 15 

U.S.C. § 78t(a); Metge, 762 F.2d at 631.  

On the other hand, many courts hold that the PSLRA’s heightened 

pleading standard does not apply to Section 20(a). See Lustrgraaf, 619 F.3d at 

875; In re WorldCom, Inc. Securities Litigation, 294 F. Supp. 2d 392, 415 

(S.D.N.Y. 2003). “A short, plain statement that gives the defendant fair notice of 

the claim that the defendant was a control person and the ground on which it 

rests its assertion that a defendant was a control person is all that is required.” 

In re WorldCom, Inc. Securities Litigation, 294 F. Supp. 2d at 415–16. Proving 

culpable participation would be unduly burdensome at the pleading stage 

when the plaintiff has limited access to corporate documents. Michael A. 

Bednarz, Let’s Be Frank: The Future Direction of Controlling Person Liability 

Remains Uncertain, 46 Suffolk U. L. Rev. 551, 565 (2013).  

Additionally, the Tenth Circuit has recognized that the PSLRA’s 

legislative history shows it was only supposed to apply to securities fraud 

claims and not to secondary liability based on control. See Lustrgraaf, 619 F.3d 
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at 875 (citing In re Initial Pub. Offering Sex. Litig., 241 F.Supp.2d 281, 

396 n.185 (S.D.N.Y. 2003)). Moreover, the PSLRA’s purpose was to 

maintain confidence in securities law and to prevent frivolous suits. H.R. 

Rep. No. 104-369, at 31 (1995). This reasoning does not apply to control 

person liability, because part of a plaintiff’s prima facie case is to show a 

primary violation that must be in accordance with the heightened 

pleading standards set forth by the PSLRA. See Melhus, supra, at 944. 

Thus, there is no need to protect against frivolous suits when alleging 

control person liability. See id.  

The Circuit Court correctly held that a 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) claim for 

control person liability does not require alleging the control person was a 

culpable participant in the primary violation, because this rule effectuates the 

clearest reading of the statute, gives meaning to the good faith affirmative 

defense, maintains the distinction between primary and secondary liability, 

and promotes protection of investors by incentivizing preventative measures. 

CONCLUSION 

Because TRSF and FMRF stated a Section 10(b) claim by alleging 

material misrepresentations and scienter, and because there is no culpable 

participation element in a Section 20(a) claim, we respectfully ask this Court to 

affirm the Circuit and remand for further litigation. 

       Respectfully Submitted, 

       /s/ Team P4 

       Counsel for Respondents 


